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En the Matter of
ARNOLD L. KING
Petition for Commutation

R l.il PORT AND RECOMMENDATION
YOUR EXCELLENCY:

The Advisory Board of Pardons (hevein alter "the Board™) respectfully submits this repornt
and recommendation concerning the commutation petition of Arnold L. King. Mr. King 15
serving a life sentence for murder in the first degree, imposed on June 20, 1972, in Suffolk
Superior Court. Based upon the same incident. he was also convicted of assault with intent to
rob and unlawfully carrying a firearm and was sentenced to serve concurrent eight to rwelve year
sentences for each offense.

The effective date of Mr. King's sentence was January 7, 1972 and he is not eligible for
parole due to lis first-degree life sentence.

O June 18, 2007, J\-'Ir',.King submitied a petition for commutation. (Atachment A) On

-

October 23, 2007, the Board conducted a public hearing regarding Mr. King's petition. On

Navember 28, 2007, after due consideration. the Bomd voted unanimously o reconumend
favorable consideration. The reasons for the Roard’s recomimendation are set forth in the body of

this opinion.



PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On November 8. 1971, the Suftolk County Grand | ury indicted My, King for Murder in
the Fiest Degree. Conspiracy. Assault with Intent to Rob, and U Inlawfully Careying a Firearm.'
The vieting was M. John I Lahanara, My King comimiued the oftfenses two duys after he had
been released on parole from an accessory to robbery conviction out of New Hampshire.

On dune 13, 1972, after a Jury trial, Moo King was convicted of all the charges and on
Fune 20, 1972, was sentenced 1w life in prison for the lirst de egree murder charge. As 1o the
Assault with Intent 1o Rob conviction and the Firearm conviction, Mr. King was sentenced 1w §
Lo 12 vears for each offense o be served concurrently with the murder sentence. The Conspiracy
conviclion was ftled. _

Mr. King appealed his conviction. On Juby 12, 1974, the Supreme Judicial Court

affirmed the conviction in Commonwealth v. King, 366 Mass. 6 (1974). (Attachment C).

Mr. King subsequently {lled a motion for a new trial. On October 16. 1979, the mation
was denied,

Mr. King has applied for commutation relicf on {ive prior occasions.

On December 21, 1987, Mr. King submitted his first petition for a commutation of
sentence. On November 1, 1989, the Roard voted to deny Mr. King a hearing by a vote of 5 10 2.
The mgjority of the Board noted Mr. King's poor institutional record, his prior criminal record,
the nature of his offense and the fact that he commiited the crimes while on parole. The two
members of the Board who voted to grant a hearing noted Mr. King's educational
accomphishments and program involvement,

On October 15, 1990, Mr. King subrmitied his second petitton for a comunutation of
sentence. On November 1, 1991, the Board voted 5 10 1 10 grant a hearmg. On June 22, 1992,
Mr. King appeared for his scheduled hearing before the Board. On April 9. 1996, the Board
voted unamimously to refer the matter o the Governar with an unfavorable recommendaiion.
The Board noted that Mr. King’s sentence was appropriate given the natare of the offense, the

fact that the offense was a senseless murder of an innocent viciim, and that he did not accepi ful

' Neither the current Board of Probation Record dated October 14}, 2007 nor the Departmen at Comection
Classification Report dated March ¢, 2007 reference Mr, King's fieearm conviction. The Supreme Tudicial Court's
Cpimon affirming Mr. King's convictions also does not reference this conviction. The Orearm conviction s,
however, referenced in the Case Summary submitted to the Advisory Board of Pardons by the Sulfolk County
District Attormey's OiTice on Mav 14, 1992 and the original Board of Probation record. CAMachment 133,
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Cresponsibility for the off“cnse: Although Mr. King did not present a compelling need for a
favorable recommendation, the Board noted that he had shown exceptional strides in sells
development, The Board also noted Mr, King’s strong comununity support. (Attachment D).

On danuary 7. 1998, Mr. King submitied his third pehtion for a commutation of sentence.
On Tulv 8. 1998, the Board voted unanimoushy to deny M, King a hearing, stating that My, King
conmmtied a Nirst degree murder 1wo days alter being released on parole (for ACCLNSOrY 10
robbery) in New Jlampshire and that he failed o accept responstbility for s crimial actions.
Noting that Mr. King’s sentence was appropriate under the circumstances, the Board concluded
that commutation relief was not appropriate.  The Board did, however, acknowledge his
improved institutional record and his volunteer work in the COMIMUNHY.

On July 26, 2001, Mr. King submitted his fourth petition [or commutation of sentence
On February 25, 2002, the Board voled 4 o 2 (o grant Mr. King a hearing. On April 18, 2002,
the Board conducted the hearing. On October 3, 2002, the Board issued a split recomimendatio,
Three members of the Board, voting in favor of commulation, noted Mr. King's age at the time
of his otfense. his length of carceration, his positive suides in selt-development and sell.
muprovement, and his impressive cammunity support syvstem. Three members of the Board.
voung m opposition, noted the nature of My, King's crime. his refusal to provide details
regarding his bnvolvement in the crime, his accumulation of disciplinary reports while
incarceraled, the opposition from the victim's lamily and the District Attornev. and his
Inappropriateness for community supenvision given the fact that he committed the offenses while
on parole. The three opposing members also noted that, although Mr. King's comrmmit}' support
was mmpressive, it was largely based on misperceplions concerning his prosecution and
convicion. {Attachment E),

Chn Febraary 20, 2004, My King submitted his fifth peution for commuration nf sentence.
On May 12, 2004, the Board coied 6 16 1 1o grant Me King a beating. On Julv 28, 2004 the Board
candocted a public hearing, ¢ I Seprember 30, 2004, the Board vored 4 to 3 1o refer the er L
the Governor with a favorable recommendanon. The faur members who vored in favor of
commutanon were of the opuinon thar B King had demonsoated exceptional strudes i self-

development siice he commiteed his erimes. (Attachment [},




As nored, on June 18, 2007, M Kang submitted his mosr recent pedtion for commutation,
(Arachment A). On July 30, 2007, the Board vored (o grant hom o hearing, On Qcrober 25, 2007

1

the Board conducied a public he aeing on Mr King's conmmutaton petron.

OFFICIAL VERSION?

AL approximately 1:40 \*\1 on October 20, 1971 Bosion police officers, responding 1o
aradho call, proceeded to 4 lacation in the vietmty of Gloucester and Newbury Streets in Boston.
Between 273 and 279 Ne\\fbm'y dtreet, the officers observed a Volkswagen parked at an rregular
angle. Upon investigaton, they found a male slumped over in the driver’s seat and ahserved
what appeared o be blood on the car seat. The body, later idenufied as that of John J. Labanara,
was remaved from the car and aken w0 Boston City Haspital where he was pronounced dead on
arrjval. _

At trial, Barbara Zelenka testificd that, on the evening of Qctober 19, 1971, Peter Yuhas
miroduced her to Arnold King at o calfee house in Portsmouth. , New Hampshire. She drove Mr.
King and Mr. Yuhas to a gas station located on Route 95 southbound out ol Portsmouth. where
she got gas and had the atlendznﬁt repair her brake lights. They then drove towards Boston, Mis.
Zelenka testified that two days prior. she had purchased a 32 caliber revolver, serial number
1813, and a box ol .32 caliber cartridges at a store called the Trading Post in Kitiery, Maine.
One day before the murder, Mrs. Zelenka placed the gun, which was loaded with Im, rounds of
ammunition, nside the pac dmff in the convertible top of her car.

While en route to Bostora, Mr. Yuhas announced that he wanted to rob a drug pusher.
Mrs. Zelenka stated that they arrived in Boston around 1130 p-m. Shortly after 1:00 a.m. on
October 20, 1971, she stopped the car so Mr. Yuhas could ask directions fromy a man whom she
identified as the vietim, John Labanara. She then drove about a block away and Mr. Yuhas
asked her 1o pull over. Mr. Yuhas and Mr, King got out of the car and walked tovvurd the back.
After about three minutes. Mr. Yuhas ran back (o the car screaming, “Oh, my God. he killed him.
He killed him.” Mr. King also returned, carrying the 32 caliber revolver. Mrs. Zelenka test{ied
that Mr. Yuhas sald, “You shouldo't have shot him,™ and that Mr. King answered, ~The man

shouldn™t have give[n] me no jive.” Mr. Yuhas then said. “You didn™t have to. you know, kill

“The facts of the eriminal case are gleaned from the Case Summary submived to the Advi 1sory Board of Pardons by
the Suffolk County Distriet Attorney’s Office on Wy 14 1992, (Anachment 13).
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him. He was too drunk to slanﬂ up.” Mr. King responded that he didn®t kill him. and that he had
only shot him i the shoulder. Fle then changed bis story. stating that he had killed the man. that
he had pat him out of his misery, and that he had died happy because ol his drunken state. Mrs,
Zelenka also testifted that Mr. King said the vietim had gotten in the car and ignored hin, She
also recalied that Mr. Yuhas stated. “We tried to hold up a man and Armie shot him.”

Mrs. Zelenka further westdied that she filed the seriaf sumbers off of the cun with the help
of another individual - At that time. the cartridges were vemoved from the gun, She observed one
discharged cartridge casing and four live rounds of ammunition.

Another witness, Mich:-ie[ Vincent, testified that in October of 1971, he was a private n
the Army assigned to Fort Dix, New Jersey. At approximalely 2:00 a.m., on Qctobor 16. 1971,
while hitchhiking, he met Barbara Zelenka who took him 1o her home in Portsmouth, New
Hampshire, Mr. Vincent stated that he saw Mrs. Zelenka leave her house on the evening of
Qctober 19, 1971 and that he next saw her at about 3:00 A.M. on October 20. 1971 in the
company of Arnold King, Mr. Vincent stated that he saw Mro King take a pisiol out of his
pocket and unload it. There were four live rounds and one empty cartridge. He testified that he
then assisted Mrs. Zelenka in f1ling the serial numbers off of the gur

At trial, Dr. Leonard Atkins. an associate medical examiner {or Suffolk County. tesiified
that on October 20, 1971, at 12:55 P.M., he examined the body of John J. Labanara, Fxternal
examination revealed a bullet entrance wound over the mid-portion of the left side of the nose.
An internal examination disclosed that the bullet, which was removed from the oceipital part of
the head. had passed through the nasal bone, cheekbone. ethmoid bone, sphenoid bone. right
temple bane, and into the occipital bone as it passed on a level plane from front to back. In Dr.
Atkins” opinion, the cause of death was a gunshot wound (o the head.

Margaret Labanara. the mother of the victim, testified that she had talked with John
Labanara on the moming of October 19, 1971 They discussed his having passed the

Massachusetis bar examination”

CO-DEFENDANT—Peter Yuhas
According to documentation submited by the Suffolk County District Attorneyv's Office.

Peter Yuhas offered a plea of guilty 1o so much of the indictment as constituted secoid-degree

St was dater Tearned, through testimony al Mr. King's conumnutation hearings, that the vietin had baveled to Boston
lnrshare the news of his bar admission with lis mentor.
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murder. The Court accepted his plea and he was remanded (o the custody of the Sheriff pending
Mr. King's uial. Mr. King's trial began on June 13, 1972 On Tune 14, 1972, however, Mr.
Vuhas became scriousty il and was transported to Boston” City Hospital, Mr. Yuhas dicd of

acute leukemia ten weeks later on September 3, 1971, {Atachment 3.

CO-DEFENDANT —- Barbara Zetenka
According 10 a Head Correctional Soeial Worker tnvestigative Report. dated Aupust 1,
19720 all charges against Barbara Zelenka were dropped, as she was the main witness in the

prosecution of Mr. King and Mr. Yuhas, (Atachment B3).

SOCIAL MISTORY

Family

Mr. King was born on December 12, 1952, 1o Leroy and Mary (Mason) King in
Baltimore. Maryland. Mr. King states that he is the third eldest of eight children born of (his
union. Healso claims he has one hali-brother. who was his father's ninth child. According 1o a
suftotk County Probation Department vreport dated January 24, 1972, and a Department of
Correction Classification Report ("Classification Report") dated September 8, 1972 iir, King s
one of elght children. My King claims that he and his famidy relocated o Porsmaoulh, New
Hampshire when he was in the irst gprade because his father, who was in the Air Force. was
stationed there.

Classtfication Reports dated July 15, 1987 through September 27, 2000, indicate that Mr.
King married his wife Kathleen {("Kate") Kunze, who was also his furlough sponsor at the time,
and became a step-parent 1o her daughter Wakeitha Kunze., The Board independently verified
Mro King's mantage to Ms. Kunze and has obtained a certificd copy of Mr. King's marriage
certificate.  {Attachiment ) Mr. King's current marital status 15, however. unclear, A
Classification Report dated March 9. 2007, states that Mr, King 15 divorced with no children.
(Attachimient H). A letter from Kate King, dated October 22. 2007, states that she and Mr. King
are “sepwrated.” but they ares still maried and continue (o communicate with each other.
{Petiioner’s Pre-Hearing Documentary Submission at Atachment 4). At the Ociober 23, 2007
heartng. M. King's attorney stated that Mr. King's wife, Kate King, was unable to attend because

of work obligations, but he noted that she had submitied a letier in support of Mr, King.




The March 9, 2007 Classitication Repaort mmdicates that Mr, King recetves weekly visits

from his family and friends. (Attachment I},

Education _

According to a Suftolk (’.'ounty Probation Department report. dated January 241972 My,
King entered Partsmouth High School in New Hampshire in the seventh arade on September 9.
F964. He subsequently [eft Iﬁ(: school in the 11" grade on January 28, 1970 for disciplinary
reasons and because his mother had moved back to Maryland 1o live with his grandmother. His
scholastic rat ng was deseribed as average 10 poor. (Attachment 13).

According 10 a Department ol Correction Classification Report, dated Juby 15, 1987, My
King obtained his G, in June of 1972 while at the Suffolk County Jail. Mr. King claims he
has received an Associate’s Degree in Science from Massasoit Community College in June of
1983, 4 Bachelor’s Degree in Liberal Studies ftom Boston University in September of 1986 and
a Master’s Degree in Liberal Arts from Boston Untversity o Juse of 1990. The Board
mdependently conlirmed the deprees from Massasoit Community College and Boston University

in Qctober 2004, (Atachment i

Employment

According 10 a Classification Report dated September 8, 1972, prior to Mo, King’s arrest,
he was employed as a social worker {or the Rockingham County Action Program {rom Oclober
24, 1971 untd his indictment in November, 1971, The report also indicated that Mr. King
previously held jobs as a gas station attendant and a construction worker.

Accarding to the Classification Report dated March 9, 2007, Mr. King does nel hold a

Job assignment at this time. (Artachment Hy.

Substance Abuse

Ina personal statement 1o the Board (ncluded in his 1991 petition). My, King wrote tlai
alter he had dropped put of bigh school in the eleventh grade, his life consisted of drug and
alcobol use on a daily basis. M. [Cing stated that even when incarcerated in the New: Hampshire
State Prison in March of 1971, he continued o use drugs and alcohol. From the time he was

refeased from the New Hampshire State Prison undl the night of the murder (1wo davs), he
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consumed a large amount of s.,al(:(:nhol and pills. At various hearings, Mr. King has admitied 1o
betng a polyv-substance abuser,

According to Mr. King™s Disciplinary Chronotogy. obtained throvgh the Depariment of
Correction. Mr. King has incurred one substance related disciplinary report on A ugust 23, 1982,
where he was found guilty o USTING AT Uartil.

According to Classification Reports. pr. King has parucipated i aleohol and substanee

abuse counseling duri ng his incarceration.

Medical _

With regard to medical tssues, the Clagsification Report dated March 9. 2007, indicates
that from October 14, 2004 w0 Jupe 17, 2005, Mr. King used two knee braces. The March 9
2007 Classilication Report also indicates that from November 23, 2004 (o November 23, 2005,
and from January 12. 2006 to January 12, 2007. Mr. King needed a foot basin. In addition, from
January 12,2006 to Januvary 12. 2007 his physical activity was limited. Mr. King does not ¢laim

of any other medical issues in the Classification Reports. (Attachment H).

Mental Health
‘Fhere are no mental health issues claimed or noted in the March 9. 2007 Classificauon

Report. (Attachment 1),

Military

There 15 no military serviee claimed or noted in the March 9, 2007 Classification Repaort.
(Attachment T}, A Suflolk County Probation report dated January 24, 1972 indicates that M,
I(ihg stated that he enlisted in the United States Army e Noventher of 1970, at the Boston Navyl

Shipyard and that shortly thereafier. he went AWO] {Attachment B).

PRIOR CRIMINAL RECORD

The following snformation was oblained from a Massachusetts Board of Probation
record, daled September 17, 2007 and an Interstate ldentificavon Index dated June 21, 2007,

(Attachment 1.
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Massachusetts

December 21, 1970

November 8, 1971

Octaber 12, 1972

New Hampshire

May 17, 1971

Cambridge District: Operating to endanger and use without
authority.  Delault‘default romoved. On fanuary 27, 1971, My
King recenved a onesvear House of Correction sentence on cach
churge. which he appeated. O October 12, 1972, both charges
were disimissed.

Cambridge Distict.  Operating  recklesshy.  Default/defanlt
removed. On Tanuary 27, 1971 the charge was dismissed.

Cambridge District: Breaking and entering a motor vehicle in
the daytime, with intent to commit a misdemeanor, On January
27,1971, Mr. King was found not guilty.

sSulfolk Superior: First-degree murder. Committed.

Suffolk Superior: Assault to rob. 8-12 year concurrent sentence.

suffolk Superior: Unlawfully carrving a firearm. 8212 vear
concurrent sentence.

Suffolk Superior: Conspiracy to rob. Filed.
Wrentham District: Attempt to comimit a crime: escape custody.

Continued o February 20. 1976, then nolle prossed by the
Commonwealtl,

~

Accessory to robbery. Sentenced 1o serve 1 to 3 years in New
. . o - 1
Hampshire State Prison.

INSTITUTIONAL HISTORY

The Department of Correction Classilication Report dated March 9. 2007, states that Mr.

iing is residing in the main housing unit at Bav State Correctional Center, a medium security

facility, swhere he receives average evaluations. As noted. this report also indicates that Mr. King

recenves weekly visits from family and [riends. (Atachment L1y,

CAlso,on November 201971 My, King was arrested by the Sheeifl™s Office in Brentwood, New Hampshire for

being a fugitive from yustice.
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Chronological Movement

hine 21, 1972 S.cnicnccd and commtted to MCECedar Tunction
December 21, 1972 'l‘.ransf‘crftd to MO Concord

June 141973 Transterred to Northeast Correctional Center
hulv 301973 R.:':lur[lcd oy M Coneard

July 25,1973 ’I".rmlsferrcd to MCTE Cedar Junction
September 21, 1977 '[“.I'zmsi“(-:.rrcd 1o MOT Norfolk

August 4, 1978 Transferred 1o Southeastern Correctional Center
September 28, 1978 R:cturned to Ml Cedar Junciion

July 15, 1980 'I"fﬂnﬂ'{:rr@d 1o Southeastern Correctional Center
March 1, 1983 R.cl'urnu'l to MCI Cedar Junction

September 13, 1983 'i‘:.'ans;ferrcd o Bay State Carrectional Center
November 13, 1984 Transferred to Bay State Correctional Center
December 30, 1987 'Inl.'é‘il'ISf‘Ct'I"Cd to Old Colony Correctional Center
January 8, 1988 Transferred 1o MCT Nerfolk

Tune 26, 1991 Translerred 10 Bay State Correctional Center

Returns to Higher Custody - Reasons

hualy 25,1973 MCT Cedar Junction from MCl Concord - poor adjustment
september 28, 1978 MCT Cedar Junction from Southeastorn Correctional Center -

participation in work stoppage

Sarch 1. 1983 MCE Cedar Juncuon (rom Southeastern Correctional Center -
disciplinary report fur stealing, daled December 8, 1982°

SO December 30, 1987, My King wag trans ferred from Ray Staie Correctional Center to Gld Colony Convectionat
Center due to the Commissiones order to retaen Liter's from loaver SCCUTITY.
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SURERT " [
Disciplinary Chronology

Attpust 22,1972

Septamber 200 1972

September 22, 1072

Cretnber 4, 1972

November 27, 1972

December 12, 1972

Jmanuary 7, 1973

Fanuary 16, 1973

January 29,1973

February 21,1973

Swearing at an officer and disrcspect. (No further description is
available)

Couilty, reprimand and released. Warning on insolence to
officers and instructars.

Refusal (o obev and shirking. (No turther description is available)
Guilty, lss of weekends. Report to metal shop on DMonday,

Refusal o obey, (No further description is available)
Guilty, 3 days isofation.

Refusal to obev, (No further descrption is available)
Guilty, 3 days isolation, suspended 3 months. Requests room
change,

Refusal to obey and insolence.  (No further deseription is
available) Guilty.

Refusal to obey. (No tfucther description is available)
Guilty, recommend indefinite  segregation. Should be
transferred to MCT Concord or MCI Norfolk.

Disobedience of orders and out of place. (Mr. King ignored the
order ol a correctional oflicer)
Guilty, 5 days isolation.

Disobedicnce, stigating, vebellion agoinst authority.  (Mr. King
ignored the order ol a correctional officer)
Guilty, 5 days isolation.

[Misobeying an order. stealing.  (Mr. King refused to remove his
hood)
Guilty, special work detail 6:30 p.m. to 10:00 [} 1.

[msobeying an order, stealing.  (Mr. King swle sugar from the
dining room)

Guilty, 3 days isolation, 9 days special work detail instead of 3
days isolation.

5 Lo o o . T . . . N R
Recent Depariment of Correction Clagsilication Reporis sugeest o discrepaney o the total ranmber of disciplinary

reparts incurred by M King. Advisory Board of Pardons 201 members have counted 2 total of 37 puilty findings.
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March 21,1973

b 2. 1973

harch 27, 1974

May 9, 1074

August 16, 1974

Aupust 16, 1974

August 27, 1974

December 22, 1974

December 29, 1974

February 27, 1973

March 1, 1973

nsolence, leaving place of work without permission, malingering.
(Mr. King left his work assignment without permission)

Guilty, 1 day isolation in licu of 3 davs work detail, plus 2 days
isolation. Total, 3 davs isolation.

Refusing a direct order. retusing to work and meiting a riot. {(Mr.
King teft his work assignment without pemiission)
Guilty, 15 davs isolation.

Retusing to obey. (Mr. King reflused o wrn down his racho)
Guilty, reprimand and loss of radio sith next report.

Refusing to obey. (Mr. King refused o ramove his shirt for a
shakedown)
Geuilty, reprimand and released.

Assault and battery on a correctional officer. refusal to obey. (Mr.
King pushed his (ypewriter into the chest of two correctional
olficers)

Guilty, 16 days isolation, suspended for 3 months.

Assaull and battery on o correctional olticer. (Same incident as
abave)

Guilty, in ahseatin, 10 days isolation and room change to
maximum section,

Out of place. (Mr. King was on the tiers and should not have been)
Guilty, 5 days room detention, suspended for 30 days (reduced
to minor).

Obscene conduct in the visiting room.  (Mr. King was acting
inappropriately with his visitor)
Reprimand and release.

Making or having in possession any type of dangerous weapon. (A
homemade knifc was found concealed in My King's room)
Guilty, 15 days isolation.

Making or having n vour possession any tyvpe ol dangerous
weapoin. (An offtcer lound a steel rad. sharpened to a potitt m pdr.
King’s personal belongings)

There was no tinding made, und the matter was filed.

Refusing to obey, (dMr. King refused 1o change his seal in the

VISHING rO0R1)
Guilty, 7 days isolation, suspended 64 days without prejudice,
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June 17,1975

Tulv'5. 1975

Jalyv 251974

Seplember 5, 19753

Sepiember 5, 1073

February 3, 1976

May 6, 1976

October 18, 1976

October 31977

Disrespect o a correctional officer. (Mr. King did not follow the
order of an oflicer)
Guilty, reduced to a minar, reprimand and release.

Fatling 10 report work assignment andior destination without
authorizatton, permission or excuse. (Mr, King was out of place)

Guilty, reduced to minor, 5 days room detention.

Leaving of cell or place af assignment or other appointed place
without permission.  (Mr. King lefi the VISting arca and went (o
the deputy office without permission)

Guilty, 5 days room detention.

Comunit any  assault andfor fighting: inciting 4 riot/general
disturbance (Mr. King and other inmates refused to return to therr
room, which resulted in an altercation with a correctional officer)
Guilty, 15 days isolation to sce DSU {Departmental Segregation
Unif) Board. Not referred to the Distriet Attorney.

Comunit any assault and/or Lighting: violaling the laws of the
Commonwealth, caommuting of any mutinous ac, inciting a riol
and/or general disturbance. disobeying an order and threatening
language toward an atficer. (Same incident as abovey

Geuilty, 15 days isolation and recommended to DSU Board.

Taking part 1 o ceneral disturbance. disobeying a prison rule.
(Mr. King barricaded a door)

Guilty, 15 days isolation and 99 days loss of good time. Appeal
denied.

Reluse to obey the arder of an officer. (Mr. King 1gnored an order
Lo return Lo his roam?
Guilty, 5 days isolation, suspended for 90 days.

Disobeying an order of an officer: disobeving a prison rule,
disrespect 0 an officer.  (Mr. King ignored an order from an
offrcer. then swore at the offtcer)

Guilty, 10 days isotation, recommend 36 days boss of good time.
Appeal dented.

Being out of place. (Mr. King missed a TAjOr Count)

Guilty, 3 days isolation. Mr. King appealed. The
superintendent suspended the 3 day isolation for 60 days.
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September 23, 1977

August 17,1978

Auvgust 17, 1978

October 15, 1978

February 27, 1980

May 28, 1980

August 15, 1980

Pecember 27, 1980

June 5, 1981

Tuly 26. 1981

November 9. 1981

August 2301982

Possession of anvthing, including money oF curreney. (Mr. King
had $20 1n s possession)
Guilty, 7 davs solation.

Participating n ov cncouraging a work stoppage or unauthorized
group demonstration.  (Mr. Kine encouraged other inmates o
continue @ sirike)

Guilty, 5 days isolation, suspended for 90 days, plus time
served in ALAL

Participating 1n or cncourasineg a work stoppage, or unawthorized
piting gy £

proup demonstration. (Mr. King cncaouraged other inmates to

strike) Guilty, see above.

Possession of money and eurrency.
Guilty, 14 days loss of free time.

Fighting. (Mr. King was fighting with another immate)
Guilty, 5 days isolation, suspendced 30 days.

Being out of place. (Mr. King was in another inmate’s rooni}
Guilty, 5 days detention, suspended.

Unauthorized possession ol property helonging to another and
possession ol anvibing not authorized. (M. King had i his
possesston another inmate’'s dairy har tickes)

Guilty, 5 davs isolation for cach charge, to run concurrently.

Iisobeying an order and vielating anv departmental rule.  (Mr.
King refused 1o move his chair while in the visiting room)
Dismissed with a warning,

Beinp out of place. (Mr. King missed a Imajor count)
Guilty, verbal warning.

Violating any departmental rule, being out of place and conduct
which distupts. (Mr King missed a major count)
Guilty, 3 days extra duty at 1 hour per day.

Violating any departmental role. (My, King used the telephone in

the computer room)
Filed without a finding.

Lise of unnuthorized conwolled  substance - maryuana. (A
wrinalysis tested positive for the presence of cannabinoids)
Cruilty, 3 davs isolation, suspended sentence 66) days,




October 30, 1982

December 8§, 1987

MNovember 21, 1986

March 29, 1989

December 3, 1997

February 4, 1998

September 23, 1098

November 14, 1998

Possession of monev, {Mr, King had $10)
Guiley, 10 davs isolation. Appealed. Reduce sanction fo extra
work.

Stealine  and violatine any law of the Commomwealth  of
Massachusetts (A large quantity of cigareties. valued at $2.100 wag

stolen from the inmate canteen)
Guilty, 30 davs isolation with 300 days lass of good time.

Violating any deparimental rule;  unauthorizecd possession  of
property belonging to another person; possession of anything nol
authorized for retention: stealing; violating any laws of the
Commonwealth: atlemplng o commit any of the above offenses.
(Mr. King used a telephone card issued to the Department of
Correction) The charges were consolidated.

Guilty, 10 days isolation, re-classification to higher security
with OQUS {(OQutside Under Supervision) Status to be re-
evaluated and restitution paid.  Mr. King appealed the
sanctions and received 10 days isolation, suspended for 6) days
and no re-classification.

Disobeving an order; unexcused absence from work: conduct
which  disrupts. (Mr. King refused to perform his work
assrgnment)

Charges were consolidated. Guiley, 3 davys extra work.

Violauing any deparimental rife; canduct which disrupts; and
possession of unauthorized llems, (During a searched contraband
was found and confiscated.)

Cruilty, loss of participation in prison voice program

Violaling any deparimental rule; bemng out of place: and conduct
which disrupts. (Mr. King did not have inmate identification

properly displaved.)
Pled guilty, reprimand

Being out of piace: viotaling any departmental rule: and conduct
which disrupts, (When a conducting a major count, Mr. King was
aut of place i the Main 1 South resiroom.)

Pled guilty, 3 days room detention, suspended 60 days

Violating any departmental rule: and conduct which disrupts. (Mr,
King was in Libracy and had not signed in)
Pled guilty, 3 days room detention, suspended 64 days
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January

Ocrober 6. 1099

January

Fehruar

February 7. 2001

6. 1999 Violating any deparimental rule; and conduct which disrupts
(Duning a security cheek two KOPs (Keep On Person)’ were

discovered under Mr. King's bed.)
Guilty, 60 davs loss of KOPs

Exing o sl violating any departmentad rule: conduct which
disrupts: and unuuthorized possession of 't

aperty belonging to

another. (Mr. King was in possession of o newspaper, when asked

who it belongs to, Mre. King lied.)
Guiley, Warning issucd

14,2000 Viotating any departmental rule; and conduct shich distupts, (M.
King was sleeping when count was being conducied. )
Guilty, 5 days room detention, suspended 60 days

v, 2001 Disobeving an order of staft violating any departmenial rule:

failure to keep one’s guarters in accordance
which disrupts; and attempting to commit a ¢
not wearing headphones while watching televi
Guilty, T-month loss of TV, suspended for
Hinor

with rules; conduct
rune. (Mr. King was
s1on}
60 days, reduced to

Violaung any departmental rate; fatlure to keep one’s quarters in

accordance wath rules: conduet. which disrupts: and possession of

ems not authorized for retention or receipt,

{When a search of

Mro King's cell was conducted, items were confiscated due to
belng inexcess of property inventory or for not being authorized

lor retention.)
Guilty, 3 days room detention

March 16. 2005 Disobeving  an order. lyinp, and insole
departmental  rule  or  regulation: possession o items,  not

TUROPS

anthonized:  and  conduct  with disrupts,
corresponding with program participant afte
Ty )

neer violating  any

(Mr. King was

r being directed not

Charges were  consolidated. Pled guilty, Loss of PRA
{(Program Related Activity) for 90 days. (Attachiment K).

tare deseribed as noen-narcatic medicatons that an inmate is allowed to either “hee

locker. but ot in any other locaion.
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Tulv 3, 2006 Communicating, directly or indirectly with any stafl member or
contract employee, volunteer, or a4 member of their famitly at their
home address or home telephane number, or for non-official
business. (Mr. King was sending correspondence 1o a permanent

volunteer's  address  after beine

-

directed not o on several
OCCASIONS. )
Pled guilty. Loss of PRA for 30 days ( Attachment Kb

Allemping o commit any of the above offenses, making plans (o
commit any of the above offense or arding ancther person o
comuut any of the above offenses shall be considered the same as
the commission of the offense itself. (Attachment K.

Bismissed

Programs/Work Involvement

MCT Cedar Junction 1973 - !97?_

¢ Honcywell Computer Project
e Reach-Oul Project

e New Birth, [nc.
o Methods of Teaching Adult Bducation
e G

MOCT Norfolk 1977 - 1978

e Norfolk Drug Refarm Project
e Higher Education

e Norfolk Communications Lab
e Store & Finance

Lifer's Group

e Honevwell Computer Project

MCT Cedar Juncton 1978 -

FOS(

o Honevwell Computer Pr'hjccl

o Short Oeder Caok

o Farnu Waorker

o  Teacher Arde

e Dwrector, Southeast Pragrammers, Ine.
LAY

e Mamlenance
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o Higher Educaiton

¢ Winter's workshop
= Acenunting Clerk

o Semimars in juvenile counscling

o Mamnlenance

o Renovation Crow

e Executive Board Member. RIEVAMP
AN

MO Norfolk 1988 - 1991

o Culinary Arts Program
e Fanulv Awareness

v State Correctional Center 199 L= presemt

o Fellowship

e v

o Liler'sflong-Termers
o AA

¢ Growing Together

e Fanmuly Awareness

e Cubnary Arts

¢ Caminemos

e Seeund Thoughts

o NA

o Computer courses

e Prison Voices

e Health Avwareness

°  Lmotional Awareness
e Audits Classes for Bl

o Poetry
FURLOUGHS

According o a Classitication Report dated January 3001997, Mr. King has successiully

campleted a total of 23 furloughs.
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PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE ADVISORY BAORD

On Octaber 25, 2007, the Advisory Board of Pardons held a public hearing on Arnold
King's cormmutation petition.  The hearing was chaired by Maureen £ Walsh, Advisory Board
of Pardor members Doris Dotrdae. Thomas I Merigwn, Jr. Candace Kochin, Pamela
Lombarding. and Mark Conrad were preseat at the hearmge. Mro King was represented bry

Attorney Bebward Berkin and Attormey maoffivah Glpah.

Altorney Berkin's Opening Statement

During his opeming staterment. Atorey Berkin sated that his presentation would focus on
Mr King's ties to the comm wnity and community service, He indicated that he would ask the
numerous members of the community and commumty organizations to describe their interactions
with Mo King, their assessment of the quality of his community efforts. and the impact he has
made in their communities.

Attorney Berkin told the Board that City Councilors Chuck Turner and Feliy ATTOVO
were present to express thewr suppaori for Mr. King. e further noted that seven members of the
Massachusets Legislative Black Cauncus  had submitied a letter in support of Mr, King.
(Attachment L) Atorney Borkin wstitied that the Stae Representatives who support My, King
have wrged the Board to vote i tavor of commutation based on their informed judgment that he
poscs no tsk o the community and hat their communitios would benefit from having Mr. King
engage n the kind of vouth outreach at which he previously has been so successiul. Alorney

Berkin further stated that fepisluors whe support Mr. Kirg have the utmost confidence in Mr.
King's ability 1o be a law abtding. productive citizen and that his contributions could help reduce
the violence 1 and argund Boston.

Altorney Berkio referenced the high level of viotence and killing in the Commonwealth,
cspecially mvolving young people. He stated that M. Kmg's supparters are concerned about the
fact that many of the killings appear o be based simply on the perpetrator's perception that he
has been shehted. put down, ar ‘tpped it He noted that this is not unlike My King. who,
hirty-six years ago. stumbled oul of a car (0 see his fricnd. Peter Yuhas, with a pun i his hand,
backing up from a stranger. Atomey Berkin stated that, on that day, Mr. King ard his friends
had colleeted money 10 go to Boston o buy marifuana and pills: they then gave the money 1o a
stranger who watked away without giving then what they expecied ia return. Adtorney Berkin
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stated that. v essence. My, King made the assumption that they were being “ripped off.” He
ndicated that Mr. King reached that conclusion instantly with no judgment and no thought, then
look the gun. approached the car and asked the stranger where the drugs were. The stranger
responded. " don’t have anv” Mro King then pointed the gun at John Labanara and shot and
flfed hime Slthough Atomey Berkin calicd My King's action inexcusable and unjustiiiable. he
hoped that. au s point 1o some degree, Mr King's actions cowld be forgiven,

Adtorney Berkin :-i(:kgm.\\'Icd_s_._;ui the presence of Mro King's family members at the
hearing. e also stated that he and Mr. King were grateful o have the apportuntty to cxpand the
record hefore the Board and present additional evidence in favar of Mr, King's commuiation.

Attorney Berkin noted that the Governor's Guidelines Tor Clemency are intended 1o
facilitate the re-Integration of deserving prisoners nito the commumty of the law abiding  He
argued that the evrcurnstances of Mr. King's life for the past thirty-six years epitomize what
Governor Patrick refers to as the vare and exceptional circumstances warranting clemency. He
noted that Mr, King truly desives forgiveness. He stated Mr. King has profound remorse and that
att of lus actions 10 helping others are hased, in large part, on his lite long commitment © make
amends for the killing of John Labanar,

Adtarney Berkin also told the Board of a mecting he had with My, King in 2002 wheremn
he provided newspaper articles about John Labanara to Mr, King. The articles stated that Mr.
Labanara had been an afl-star hockey plaver, played on the football team in high schaool,
graduated from Boston University and Suffolk Law School, and that he was a well-liked and
humble person. Atorney Berkin stated that when he watched Mr. King read the arhicles, Mr.
King expressed genulne remorse for the act he had commitled and the mmpact his actions had on
Mr. Labanara's family.

Finally. Attorney Berkin nated Mr. King's successiul furloughs. He stated that. while
MroKing was on these furloughs, he counseled young peaple against making the same mistakes

he had made.

Arnold King's Testimony

Amaold King began his statement by thanking the Board for giving him the apportunity to
be heard and for 1ts past Tavorable decisions, He stated that he is genuinely remorseful for killing

Tohn Labanara. Refative o his offense. Mr. King stated that thirty-six vears ago this month he
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shot and killed John Labanara on Newbury Street in Boston, He said that he was an eightecn
vear old high xchool drop-out \.\-'ho consumed drugs and alcohol every day. e was the third
oldest of nine children and was expected (0 be a role model for hus vounger siblings. e
admitted that he had made poor decisions.

Mo Kang explained that e first began 1o drink and use drugs only on Fridavs and
Saturdavs, Then he hegan o use daitv. He stated thai he thought he was grown up at the time.
but now reabizes he was merelv a child, He develaped skitls in poal halls and would challenge
adults for maney. He acknowledged that he also tried o trick people with confidence schemes.
He explained that people would trust hin with their money with the expectation that he would
later provide them with alcohol and drugs. e admitted that olten, such people would recerve
nothing n return,

Mi. King tesiified that, at age {ificen, he was sent (0 a reform school for such activities,
He stated that i the summer of 1969, he was admitted into a program called "A Better Chance”
at Dartmouth College, which gave kids the chance to attend prestigious prep-schools. At the
conclusion of the program. he decided to forepo a beiter chance and returned o public school.
This disappointed his parents, At age sinteen, he started bmgelng on drugs and aleohol. Atage
seventeen. Mr. King dropped ouwr of high school and his life continued (o unravel. e stated that
he had no plans. no accomplishments and was not making decisions. He was “just existing.”

Mr., King acknowledged that in 1971, he robbed a motel and was sentenced to one to
three vears in prison. Several months later, he was released. Mr. King stated, “Two days later,
m October of 1971, | shot and Killed John Labanara.”

Mr. King testified that be now knows what he should have known then: that he should
not have been using drugs and alcohol; that he should not bave been looking for more drugs on
Newbury Street: that he should not have taken the eun from his triend, and pomted 1t through the
window at John Tabanara. He further acknowledged that he, certainly, should nat have pulled
the trigueer. Tle stated that he was present belore the Board, not as that eighteen-year-old who
prevented John Eabanara [rom living, but ruther as a (ifiv-fivesvear-old, a completely different
person. Me stated that he was present to honor and respeat the Dife that he ook

M. King described hus transiion as one that contimues even taday. s focus, according
0 o is on self-development and service wark, He s willing to tearn as much about himself as

he can i order o acquire the oeht skills o function. He smd that he receved counseling and
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then became o counsclor to others. The now writes 1w tell his stories and to help others express
their own stories. i concluding his personal statement, Mr. King noted his goal of expanding
the vouth project with urban teenagers, which involves talking 1o teenagers about consequences
of violent behavior and the importance of cducation.  tle asked for the Board's vote of

conlidence and seated that 1t would assist him in achieving this poal.

The Board's Inguiry

The Board noted Mr. King:;'s exceptional support network, ranging, from his familyv and
others i the conmmunity, The Board asked Mr. King why he thought his supporters find him (o
be a rare and exceptional candidate deserving of @ commutation. Mr. King responded that he
hopes they sec thal be made a fatal mistake, that he killed an mmocent man, and that he has put
eflort into examining the teenager he was and trying to make himself a much better person. At
the same time. he has tried (o reach out to other vouths. He also draws on the support he recerves
from his family and others. He knows that he can provide a service 0 commumilies and this
keeps fum gomg. Mr. King explained that he does not wam people 1o fook at him as that
“teenage kKiller,” because he s much older, different. and wiser now. He acknowledeed that he
ook the Iife of @ man who had a bright fulure and that he cannot torget what he did. He further
stated that the people around himm will not let him forget because they want him to tell his story in
communities where it is needed.

The Board expressed concern aver the two disciplinary reports Mr. King received since
his last commutation hearing i 2004, Mr. King indicated that the first disciplinary report was
hased on his sending a program participant a copy of his 2004 commutation hearing transcript
and Board oppuen. He stated that he thought he was prohibited only from corresponding
regarding program related matters. and not from sending correspoodence about tis commutation
hearing. He said that he pled guilty 1o the offense because he did it but further stated that he was
1ol ;-.1\\ are that 1he vules hud changed.

With regard 1o the second diseiplinary report. Mr. King indicated that he sent a birthday
card to o woman signed by all the members af a group in which he participated. He stated that
he sentthe card to an orgamzation. not o an individual, and thought that this was 0 compliance
with the rules. He acknowledged that he pled guilty to the offense because he did send the card.

bir King also stated that he s very active 1 programs and sometimes runs astray because he




cares about the programs. e further testitied that he felt restricted because he had known some
of the program participants prior to their joimng the proprams. then, after he muroduced them o
the programs. he was told that he could no longer contact therm. Nonetheless, he acknowledged
that the program rutes apply to everyone.

The Board also asked Mro King aboul the change he bas made i imsell abicr being
convicted at the ape ol ecighteen and sentenced w hife without the possibiliy of parale,
Specttically, the Board asked how and why he was able 1o make tus change when there was no
promise or guarantee of a “hieht at the end of the wnnel.” dMr. King responded that he always
thought there was a hight at the end of the tunnel. He was not comfortable or pleased with \-\-‘.hc:n
he was and needed to be a better person because of his famuly, He felt that he had embarrassed
then.

As a result, he pursued (-:duéation and progranmts and sought out mndrviduals who where
making the same changes he was.  He noted that there were program volunteers who had
mspired i He wanted the change to be consistent and continuous, When he {aced seibacks,
he would reach deep taside and seek support and try to pull himseif up. He further tesufied that
he ciicourages others to do this, He stated that ke found hope when others came into his hfe. He
discovered that he was not alone. Mr, King also said that he had a withingness 1o change, but he
needed to be honest with himsell” because he had demons he needed to face. He stated 1t was
difficult, but the people around him were determined to have him face the demons. 1f he slacked
in any way, they were there (o pick him up.

When asked what demons he laced. Mr. King explained that he had a {ear of not
suceceding. He gave the example of the youth program at Dartmouth College. He stated that he
did not follow through because be was fearful that he would not succeed. e stated that there
were smart kKids oul there, and that he is a competitor, e did not tnink he could succeed so he
did not put in the effort. He testified that he believes he can succeed now because he knows he
bas the abihiov. hMare importantdy, he knows that he can asl for help af he needs 1. He went on
to say that asking for help daes not take away {rom him. but rather. builds character.

The Bouard asked Mr. King what he could do to honor M. Labanara, Mr. King responded
that he would do whatever he could to honor the e that he took, e said that even today. he is
mvolved in projects in the neighborhood where he took Mr. Labanara’s hife. e stated that he

has not been able to alle direcdy w My, Labanara’™s famidy, but that he would do whatever he can




because he doesn’t want them t.o g0 through life any Tonger feeling the pain and sulfering that he
caused.

The Board concluded ity questioning by asking Mr. King how he might handle not being
able 1o meet the expectations of all thase who support him. and what would happren il they were
na longer there tor hum. M King stated that he does not see himsclt bemyg alone. He does not
beheve that the connections he has buttt will disappear. But, il by chunce. a refattonship does
not wark, Mro King stated that he has the foundations requived 1o be able to sustain a change
without having his life uaravel, Mr. King further noted that he not only has the skills to continue

to recetve help from his current supporters, but also to build other support networks.

SUPPORT
Boston City Councilor At Large Felix ). Arroyo and Boston City Councilor Chuck
Turner jointly submitted a letter dated February 14, 2007, in support of Mr. King’s petition for
commutation of hus lrsi-degree life sentence. (Atachment M). Both councilors appeared at Mr,

King's commutation hearing on October 25, 2007, ready (o provide testimony on behalf of Mr.

King. but due o scheduling conflicts, they had to Jeave prior 1o their testmony.

Sven Bursell

Mr, Bursell, a pmf‘cssm; of medicine at the University of Hawaii, and {ormer associate
professor in the Department of Ophthalmology at Harvard Medical School. appeared betore the
Board Members and presented testimony on Qctober 25, 2007, Mr. Bursell noted Mr. King's
path to redemption and his remarse for what he did. e explained that he had flown in from
Honolulu that morning to support Mr. King and would {ly out that mght. Mr. Bursell also noted
that he and s faimily have dm-éiopcd a strong personal friendship with My King and his family
over the course of the last ten vears, He stated that he considers Mr. King to be an exceptionally
good man. He noted that some "real good” has been borm out of Mr King's remorse Tor the
senseless act he committed as a teenager and his fine-tuned apprecration lor people with

ditficulties,
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Becky Thompson

Ms. Thompson appeared before the Board Members and presented testimony on October
252007, Ms. Thompson. a professor of soctology at Simmons College. testified that she has
known Mr. King for a decade. first by his repulation for his work with writers and then.
personally. as a dnend. Ms. Thampson testifled that Mr King 15 an exemplary individual, in
character, productivity and demeanor and as a peaccimaker. She spoke of dro King's work with
voung peaple, bis support of emerging writers and his anti-violence advocacy. Mg Thompson
stated that My, King embodies redemption. She has been invalved i three of Mr. King's

cormmutaton heanngs. Ms. Thompson noted that his COMMUAIY of SUppOrt continues 1o grosw.

Reebee Garalalo

M. Garafalo submitted a Jetter of support on July 6, 2007 He also appeared before the
Board Members and presented testimony on QOctober 25, 2007 Mr. Garalalo. o professor at the
University of Massachusetts in Boston {or the last thirty years, (estified that he has known
Arnold King for approximately twenty vears. This was the fourth heartng that Mr. Garafalo had
attended. Mr. Kimg impressed Mr. Garafalo. very carly on, as someone wha was a model inmate.
It seemed clear to him that Mr. King could be a model and producuve cizen, i given the
chance. Mr. Garafulo testified he would help Mr. King scek employment and access o advanced
cducation if released.  He further noted that M. King had other supporters in the community
who alse would assist bim in finding work. Mr. Garafalo [elt privifeged  be part of Mr. King's
diverse group of supporters, all of whom are a testament o who Mr. King has become,
Anthony {rving

Mr. Trving appeared before the Board Members and presented testumony on October 23,
2007 Mro Irving. a former inmate, stated that he had appeared betore the Board on numerous
accastons. Through Board’s courage. commitment to public safety. and Uts conscience, he wus
granted a parole in 2005 on his sccond-degree lile sentence. My, Irving expressed his respect and
condolences 1w the Labanara fanily, My bving ithen stated that Me. King "broke thle] prison
cubture.” He respected Mro King because he encowrmged people to e themselves. Mr, King also

encouraged him to pursue his education. My [rving further noted that Mr., King has made a great
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contribution to the conumunity without forgetiing his victim. In additon. Mr. frving stated tha

Mro King has strong support rom others who do similar work in CONUNLLILY,

Glenn Koocher

Mr. Koocher, Tixecutive Director ol the Massachusetts  Association of  School
Comnnttees. appeared betore the Board Members and presented testmony an October 23, 2007,
Mr. Koocher stated that he was not present on behall of his organization. but was speaking for
himself. Mr. Koocher stated that he works with schools, teachers. students and public policy
makers. He noted that be appeared before the Board when he was a School Committee member
m Cambridge fram 1973 to 1986 and successiullv secured paroles for two people whom he Jater
cployed. Mr. Koocher stated that M King understands how yvounyg peaple think when they are
at the "crossroads” because he has been there.  Mr. Koocher further said that, 1f Mr. King
received a commutation, he would ensure that Mr. King is made available to students as a mentor

and role model.

Renney Cushing

Mr. Cushing. appeared belore the Board Members and presented testunony on October
25,2007 Mr. Cushing is the Execulive Director of Murder Victim's Families for Human
Rights. an organization of survivors of homicide victims, He is a victims' rghts advocate. Mr.
Cushing testified that, 19 vears ago, his father was shot to death in front of his mother in their
family bome. Mr. Cushing does a lot of work within the victims” community. He stated that
peaple who loose Tamily members to murder oflen strupgle with how w get bevond that moment
of horrar and accept that they cannot change the past. Me indicated that 1t is a continuous
journey that cven crosses generations.  For exame. Mir. Cushing stated that his chuldren are
affected by his tather’s murder even though they were not alive when his father died. He noted
that. through his work with the victims' community, he has had contact with many offenders,
murderers i particular. He stated that he can give meaning 1o his father's death by working to
prevent other people from suffering the same experience he has. One wav 1o sccomplish this is
by working with oftenders.

Mr. Cushing has spoken with Mr. King and believes thal he realty understands what he

didowhich s rare for offenders in correctional facifitics. M. Cushing betieves that Me. King has



the abihity to use hes past experiences to prevent others fromy following the same path. which 1o
tirn could prevent future victimizations, Mro Custung noted that he has never testibied m suppon

ol commutation for any other offender,

Sam Williams

N Willams appaired belore the Board and presented westimony on October 25, 2007
b Williams 1s the Chict Operating Officer atthe Unitavian Universalise Livban Ministry, a non-
profit faith based orparization i Roxbury. The orgamization has been domg social justice work
tor the last 180 vears. ©Mi Williams testified that he manages a priscner reentry project through
the Urban Mimistry called the United Souls. in addition to a food pantry project that delivers toad
to the Chinatown community,

Mo Williams met Mro King twenty vears ago in prsoin when Mr, Wilhams was a
confused man who needed to explore the reasons for why he was incarcerated. He got mvolved
i1 some programs that Mreo King ran, such as the Young Father and Family Awareness. Mr
King's leadership and guidance enabled Mr. Wilthams to do the work he cwrently does today:.
Mr. King taught him personal responsibihity. Mo, Williams watched Mr. King graduate {rom the
prison college program and (his inspired himy. Mro Williams testiflied that before he was released
from prison he received his Bachelors Degree tfrom Boston University.  He lurther stated that
Mr. King taught hun, by example, about giving back to the community by educating voung
peapte about the cholces they make. Mr. Withiams noted that he has been involved 1o the vouth
development hield for the past fifteen years and now oversees a program serving over 100 youth
through the Urban Ministry. Mr. Williams further noted that he is able w offer Mr. King a job if

he s released.

Nancy Murray

Ms. Murrav, Thrector of Education al the Amencan Crab o Libertes Umon of
Massachuscuts. appeared before the Board and presented testimony on October 25, 2007, Ms.
Murray stated that 1t was the third time she bad appeared on behalt of Mr. King, She first knew
Mr. King through his involvement with a vouth program she directed. She explained that vouny

peaple would write 10 a nowspaper called "Rising Times" with questions for Mr. King. Mr.

King would then vespond with nsight from lus own expertences and fecdback about how he
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changed. Ms. Murray was struck by Mi. King's tremendous remorse. She felt that redemplion
was now Mr. King's mission because he knew he could not bring back the tife he took, but he
could to uy 1o prevent others from gong down that path.  She noted the "mountains” of
testimony and evidence demaonstrating that My Kmg coutd do more good on the outside and

really contribuie to society,

Heverend Ray Hammond

Revered ("Rev.") Hammond. who chairs the Boston Ten Pamt Coahioon and the Criminai
Justice Commitiee of the Black Ministerial Alliance, appeared betore the Board on Octaber 23,
2007, Rev. Hammond testified on behall of himselt and Revered William I, Diickerson. who was
at the hearmg earher. but had (o leave. He noted that Rev. Dickerson has also been actively
engaged 1n work with high-risk youth and ex-offenders reentering the Boston community, Rev.

Hammond read aloud a fetter that he provided to the Board. {Attachment N).

Miriam Messinger

Ms. Messinger. the Executive Director of the City School, appeared before the Roard 1o
preseut testimony on Qctober 235, 2007, Ms. bessinger has been employed at the City School
for seven years and knows Mr. King as a colleague. She testified that Mr. Kmg 1s one of the
founders of the Prison Voices Program at the Bay State Correctional Center. The program brings
young people to the prison o engage in a dialog with the inmates. The youths hear the inmates'
stories and share pieces of their lives as a way 1o create 4 postive impact in the community, Ms.
Messinger noted that she has seen the pain of violence and is tmpact.

Ms. Messinger believes that Mr. King works in the commmunity, nolt because he feels
obligated to do so. but because he feels it is a privifege. She noted that My, King 1s focused.
atlentive, caring and passionate about his work. Ms. Messinger has seen the impact that Mr.
Kuwg has had on voung people. and adulis alike. wha have been involved in the Prison Voices
Program. She noted that, through his humility. patience. listening skills. and consistency. MNr.
King has been able (0 hridee the eubural generation gap with young people, despite the Tact that

he has been incarcerated for thirty-five vears.
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Ama Brown

Ms. Brown. public school teacher i the South Bronx, appeared before the Board and
presented testumony on October 250 2007, She spoke about My, King's seli~development and
how 1t has nspired others. s Brown fivst met Mro King when she managed the Prisoner
Lmpowerment Project at the City Schonl. She brought in groups of vouny people frant diverse
backgrounds o speak with My King. some of whom were ou the path o success and some of
whom had been imvelved in court. She observed that Mr. King had the ability to connect with
the most difficudt vounge people.

Ms. Brown stated that Mr. King has arded the development ot the city schools with his
organizauons.  Specitically, Prison Voices. which Mr. King founded, later became the Prison
Empowerment Project and the Rose from Concrete Project, which now serve hundreds of voung
people. Lastly, she spoke of Mr. King's infiucnce over her life. He taught her not to fear voung
people who seemed mean or tough. He explained that they were just scared. For example, when
she bepan teachimg i the South Bronx she connected with a student who appeared 1o be the one
who least wanfed to be in ber class. She. like My King had done with others in the Prison
Vowces Project. relentlesshy challenged and supported the student. She noted that the student

graduated [rom high school this yvear.

Banjineh Bepway

Mr. Begway, a hip-hop musician. appeared before the Board and presented testimony on
October 25,2007 Mr. Begway first met Mr. King when he (Mr. Begway) was the Director of
the Prisoner Empowerment Project. He thanked Mr. King for his job and (o1 the people he met
there. My, Begway stated that his experience with the Prison Empowerment Project directiv
fueled his work as a hip-hop artist.  He noted that “hip hop” is a world-wide movement. but.
unfortunately, it ofien reflects violence. drugs, and disrespect oward women.  Mr. Begway
learned from Mr. King that if vou do not like something. vou should be the person to changpe 1t
He further noted that. even though Mr. King was serving a life sentence. he was always
concerned about Mr. Begway's welfare, which is a testament to the type of person Mr. King 15
Mr. Begway noted the cross-section of people at the hearing whose hves Mr, King had affected,
He stated that Mr. King brings a message of peace. change, and accountabitity. He described

Mro King as a healer, who it released. could maoenity his healing eftorts.

=
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Laura Efron

Ms. Efeon appeared before the Board and presented testimony on Qctober 235, 2007, My
I2ron has worked with My, King as his oditor al the local publicaton. "What's Up Magazine.”
The mission of the magazine is 1o bring art and social awareness issues 1o Boston. addimon w
an cimphasis on homelessness, they also work to reach ow o the focal vouth organizations ot
Boston o get voung people to read. write tor. and sell the magazine. Ms. Idron stated that M.
King has been a major contributor 1o the magazane for several vears. He writes a regular colunn
about a variety of social awareness issucs.  He has addressed prisoner rights, as well as
spirituality and family. e also has written personal essays on his own experiences belore and
after his incarceration. Mr. King provides the magazine with rare insight and perspective, which
has been invaluable for the magazine and s young readers. Mr, King's youth outreach work had
been more meaningful than any other she has scen. She explained that he cloquentty encourages
young people 10 avoid pressures to do drugs and engage in violence. Finally, Ms. Efron stated
that 1f Mr. King is released, he will already have a home and community at "What's tp

Magazine.”

Cindy Miiler

Ms. Mitler appeared before the Board and presented testimony on October 25, 2007 Ms.
Miller has taught classes on activism and outreach at Emerson College for approximatety ten
years. She met Mr. King through a friend who had been doing prison outreach work at the Bay
State Correctional Center. Like so many other people who had spoken at the hearing, Ms, Miller
was immediately unpressed with My, King's warmth. intellect, and humanity.  She also was
impressed by his potential o mspire the community.

Ms. Miller noted that. unlike many of the other witnesses at the hearing who work with
underpriviteged voung people, she works with “over-privileged” youth.  She stated  that
whenever she speaks to her students about My, King. they are inspired by his accomplishments.
For example, afier talking about social Justice and the prisons system in one of her classes lasi
vear. the students asked if prisons were for punmshment or rehabilitation.  She responded by
telling them about Mr. King. Afterward. some of the students did a final project on Mr. King's

outreach efforts in prison. Ms. Miller now shows the project ta other classes as both an example
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of a good final project and an example of the things that can he accomplished within the prison

system. She stated that it has inspired hundreds of college students to do community service.

Marva Kiny

Niro Rong's sister, Marva King. appeared before the Board and presented tesumony on
October 232007, Ms. King stated that she was humbled to be in the presence of s, Labanara
again and that she pravs for her peace and healing. Ms. King stated that, through her brother's
guidance. she transformed {rom a teenager in an abusive marriage 1© a woman who is preparing
to defend her Phob). dissertation proposal next month. Ms, King testified that she could not have
accompbshed this without her brother.  She noted that many other family members, including
Mr. King's brother, Daniel, and three other brothers, were present in support of Mr. King. She
stated that Mr. King's family witl always be there for him. Ms. King also noted that Mr. King
has many other supporters who could not be present at the hearing, including politicians such as

Representative Gloria Fox,

Daniel King

Daniel Kang. the fifiy-two-year-old, voungest brather of Arnold King, testified on at the
Octaber 23, 2007 hearing. He stated that his entire family wanted olfer the Labanara famihy ther
heart felt sorrow for the tragic loss of their loved one. John Labanara. Daniel siated that the
Labanara family has been n hius family's prayers for years.

When Damiel King was an "at-risk” student at Boston Untversity in the mid-1970s, he
visited his brother al Walpote prison several umes a week. While Mr. King was deaiing with the
perl of the maximum sceurity unit al Walpole, he was dealing with the challenges of being the
family's first college graduate. Diven though Mr. King was in a maximuwn security prison, he
contnually motivated his brother. At times, Daniel talked of quitting college and rewurning w
the streets. Whenever Daniel talked about coping with life stresses by drinking. or taking drugs.
Mr. King would become very serous. Mro King was adamant that his brother not submit 1o the
same vices he did. Although Mro King often had an authoritative tone, he also provided
encouragement o Dapiel. Daniel ultmatchy graduated from the School of Managerment at

Baston University and later received a Master's Degree in guidance and counseling from the
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University of Marviand. He atiributed his educational success to Mr. King's strong gudance and
counseling.

Damel stated that My, King has affered the sume tvpe of effective counseling to others
throughout hts incarceration. Te explained that M. King has wid him on many occasions that
his outreach programs are his life work. his "redemptive walk.” and his persanal conviunent
atonenent for the life he touk. Daniel King further noted that he is the president of the Promise
Youth Foundation in Salisburv. Marviand. e and Mr King have wtked about desiyning a
summier progeam for youth at risk that could be wsed in Marvland. Massachusetts. and other
commumues. He and Mr. King also are working with Rev. Hammond to implement a similar
program at his church. Ulumately. their larger vision is to design and open a school with a
residency component for yvouth at risk. Dantel King is confident that his brother has the skills 10

accomplish these goals.

Charles Ogletree

M. Ogletree appeared befure the Board w0 present testimony on Qctober 23, 2007, My
Ogletree 15 a tenured professor at Harvard Law School and the Executive Director of the Charles
Hamilton Huston Institute for Race and Justice.  Mr, Ogletree {irst stated that although he has
not met the Labanara family, they share a similar experience. In 1982, his sister. who was
police officer 1w their home lown, was murdered., Twenty-five yvears later, no one has been
prosecuted for her death. This is a painful reminder to him of what it means w be a victim of
violence, Mr. Ogletree testified that, while he will never forget his sister's death. he will torgive
whoever was responsible. He believes that redemption 1s an important thing for cvervone to
CNprericnee,

He westified that Mr. King bas been an elegant and passionate spokesperson on this issue.
He noted that Arnold King has the label “murderer™ over his head and that will never 20 AwWay,
He totd the Board that if they were 1o judge him simply by this tabel, it would be casv 1o make a
decision. I contrast, it the Board members judge Mr. King by "reading the hook" from
beamning to end. they will see that he 15 a healer, a counsclor, 4 confidant, a family member, and
arale model. My, Ogletree stated that he has been in the community for thirty-two vears and hag
been o many prisons in this state. e noted that there are 900 people ke My, King who have
heen convicted of a serious crime. bul anly 9 have done work that even comes ¢lose Mr King's
wark. e behieves that Meo King has transtormed from the person he was thirty vears ago. that
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he is a different person than the one who has come before the Board at Past comMntalion
hearmgs. e also believes that My King's case meets. and oxceeds. the eriterta of o rve and
exccp[itma:i circumsiance \\-'z:u'i'a:tll'mg__; commutation,

[n addition 1o the testimony at the October 235, 2007 hearing, numerous peaple submitted

letters v support of Me, King's commutation petition. {Atachment Q.
OPPOSITION

Ms. Lynn Labanara

M. Labanara, the victim’™s sister-in-law, submitted @ letter in opposition o the Board on
October 20,2007, {Atachment P). She also appeared and presented testimony an October 23,
20007 My Labanara stated that <he was present to be the voiee of the victim, but she felt that Mr.
King was being treated as the victim due to his incarceration. This was a difficult fecling for her
o absorb. Ms. Labanara further siated that she finds painful to read articles that portray Mr.
King tn a glowing manner. Ms. Labanara acknowledged that Mr. King has turned his [ife around
and 15 helping others.  She praised him for that change.  She noted, however. that al) people
change over time. Ms. Labanara feli that Mr. King has changed because he is i prisan: he had
boundaries and the time 1o think and rethink cverything that has happened to hom.

M. Labanara was concerned by the fact that from 2001 unul his hearing 1w 2004 Ml
King accrued no disciplinary reports. but since his 2004 hearing he has had two. She found the
sccond report most upsctting because he communicated with a volunteer at the volunteer's home
address. To her, this was a red ag.

Ms. Labanara also spoke 10 the Board about John Labanara. She testified that John had a
promising future ahead ol him.  1le had published two articles in the Law Review before he
graduated. He loved politics and actively supported candidates minning for public office. At the
time of his death, John was working as an Aide to then mayor Kevin White, who was running for
Governor. Ms. Labanara also noted that the fugh school that Joho auended cives ol a
scholarship in Belmont. This avward was established in 1973 by John's High School graduating
class. She further stated that, since 1972, Sutfolk Law School has given out a scholarship cvery
vear o a deserving candidate, These scholarships give JTohn's mother comfort in knowing that
something good has come of her son's death, Ms. Labanara testified that John s memaory fives on

through the recipients of these scholarships and through the people that work so hard to have ks
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life remembered. She said that John served his country tn the National Guard after graduating
feom Boston University and before he attended Suffolk Law School, He was proud to have the
opportunity o do so.

s, Labanara stated hat is scems as though the voice of the crimmal has been heard
toudhy because he has changed his il and made wonderin] accomplishments. but the vorce af
the victim has really faded. Ms. abanara stated that My Kimg had the chance to change his fife
11 prison. but John was not aflovwed any chances at life. Ny, Fabanara has read evervilimg she
can aboui what Mr. King s doing with his life and how he is trving so hard w chunge lves of
vounger prisoners. She uuly beticves that this is Mr, King's calling in hie and teels that Mr.
King should remain in prison and continue 1o show youth at risk what happens when someone
takes the e of another.

Ms. Labanara does not believe that Mr. King has changed. Rather, she feli that he was
trying (o change his image to the public. She felt that Mr. King would have a difficuli time
adjustng i the real world if he is disobeying rules in the controlled environment of prison. Ms.
Labanara asked the Board not 1o release Mr. King from his successful prison environment. Ms.
Labanara praised Mr. King for what he has accomphished,  She. nevertheless, felt that his

accomphishments would be better utilized in a prison environment.

Suffolk County District Attorney’s Office

On July 20, 2007, Assistant District Attorney David Meler, Chief of Homicide at the
Suffalk County District Attorney's Office. submitted a letter on behall of District Attorney
Daniel Conley. The letter advised the Board that the District Altorney's Qffice respectfully
appases any commutation of Mr. King’s sentence. Assistant Disirict Attorney Meicr stated that
the Distriet Attorney’s Office recognizes and acknowledges the apparent strides in selfs
development and sell-improvement that Mr. King has allegedly made i recent vears. as well as
the suppart he now shares fram numerous members of the community. Nevertheless. Assistant
Disinet Atorney Meler stated that. after a careful and thorough review of the {acts and
crreumstances of the case. My, King's institutional history. his Commutation Case Summary, the
Commutation Guidelines, and correspondence with a representative of the vietim's tamily, the

District Atorney's Office 15 opposed to conumutation.  The letter further noted the senseless and






